Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

JCU COLLEGE PTY LTD

Formerly JCU Pathways Pty Ltd

ACN 607 713 691

Constitution

CONTENTS

	F	Page No.
1.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
2.	OBJECTS	2
3.	PROPRIETARY COMPANY	3
4.	SHARE CAPITAL AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS	3
5.	LIEN	4
6.	CALLS ON SHARES	5
7.	FORFEITURE OF SHARES	6
8.	TRANSFER OF SHARES	6
9.	TRANSMISSION OF SHARES	8
10.	ALTERATION OF CAPITAL	9
11.	PURCHASE OR SALE OF ASSETS OR BUSINESS, AND BORROWING	9
12.	GENERAL MEETINGS	10
13.	PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS	10
14.	APPOINTMENT, REMOVAL AND REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS	13
15.	POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS	15
16.	PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS	15
17.	DIRECTOR'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST	17
18.	COMMITTEE OF DIRECTORS	18
19.	SECRETARY	18
20.	SEAL	18
21.	INSPECTION OF RECORDS AND PROVISION OF INFORMATION	18
22.	CONFIDENTIALITY	19
24.	INDEMNITY	20
25.	DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES	20
26.	WINDING UP	20
27.	GOVERNANCE AND POLICY	21
28.	FINANCIAL YEAR	21
29.	CHANGE TO CONSTITUTION	21
30.	AUDITOR	21

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

CONSTITUTION

of

JCU COLLEGE PTY LTD

ACN 607 713 691

Company Limited by Shares

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Constitution -

"Act" means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth);

"Board" means the board of Directors of the Company;

"Certificate of Approval" means a certificate of approval from the Vice-Chancellor certifying that the person is approved to act as a Director of the Company;

"Charitable Non-profit Entity" means an eligible charity under Division 50 of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*;

"Company" means the company named above;

"Controlled Entity" is one that satisfies the test of 'control' in s.50AA of the Act, i.e., in essence:

'an entity controls a second entity if the first entity has the capacity to determine the outcome of decisions about the second entity's financial and operating policies' (s.50AA(1) of the Act);

"Core Director Functions" include:

- financial management
- strategic analysis
- risk management/audit
- chairmanship
- business/commercial
- legal
- marketing
- university management;

"Council" means the Council of JCU;

"Deputy Vice-Chancellor" means the Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Services and Resources of JCU or person holding a like position;

"Director" of the Company has the same meaning as in the Act as it applies to the Company;

"General Meeting" includes, where applicable, an annual general meeting;

"JCU" means James Cook University ABN 46 253 211 955, a body corporate pursuant to the *James Cook University Act 1997*, whose office is situated at JCU, Townsville Campus, Douglas, 4811, in the State of Queensland;

"Member" means a member or shareholder of the Company;

"Seal" means the common seal of the Company and includes any official seal of the Company;

"Secretary" of the Company means any person appointed to perform the duties of a secretary of the Company;

"Senior Manager" of the Company means a person (other than a Director or Secretary of the Company) who:

- (i) makes, or participates in the making of, decisions that affect the whole, or a substantial part, of the business of the Company, or
- (ii) has the capacity to affect significantly the Company's financial standing

(the term including the chief executive officer and the general manager); and "Vice-Chancellor" means the person appointed as Vice-Chancellor of JCU from time to time.

- 1.2 Unless the contrary intention appears, an expression used in this Constitution that deals with a matter dealt with by a particular provision of the Act has the same meaning as in that provision of the Act.
- **1.3** Words importing the singular number include the plural number and vice versa.
- **1.4** Words importing a particular gender include any other gender.
- **1.5** A reference to a person includes any other legal entity and vice versa.
- **1.6** A reference to a statute includes all regulations, subordinate legislation and amendments relating to that statute.
- **1.7** The replaceable rules under the Act shall not apply to this Company.

2. OBJECTS

- 2.1 The object for which this Company is established is the advancement of education including -
 - to provide educational pathways for members of communities associated with JCU and for prospective students of JCU (both domestic and international);
 - to provide English language tuition to students requiring these services including via studytours;
 - to provide higher education sub-degree offerings including diploma and advanced diploma offerings;
 - to provide facilities for study, research and education in English language tuition and all field of educational knowledge connected with diploma and advanced diplomas offered by JCU;
 - to carry out and assist in the development of study, research, and education in English language tuition and all field of educational knowledge connected with diploma and advanced diplomas offered by JCU;

- (f) to support JCU in the execution of its functions, including through the provision of financial support and accommodation;
- (g) to seek and encourage gifting to JCU to further the objectives of the Company;
- to make donations from time to time in such amounts and at such times as the Directors may determine;
- to subscribe and make payments to any fund for charitable or benevolent objects of any description;
- becoming a member of, forming, taking part in, and managing an entity or organisation to further the objectives of the Company, and, without limiting the forgoing, taking part in, operating and managing a registered training organisation or like body; and
- (k) any other object or purpose not inconsistent with the objects specified in this Constitution, which is consistent with the provisions of the *James Cook University Act 1997* and which the Directors in consultation with the Council consider appropriate.

3. PROPRIETARY COMPANY

- **3.1** The Company is a proprietary company and therefore -
 - (a) is limited by shares;
 - (b) restricts the right to transfer its shares as provided in this Constitution;
 - (c) limits to not more than fifty the number of its Members (counting joint holders of shares as one person and not counting a person who is employed by the Company);
 - (d) must not engage in any fundraising activity that is prohibited under the Act.

4. SHARE CAPITAL AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS

- **4.1** The initial share capital of the Company is ten dollars (\$10.00) divided into ten (10) ordinary shares (with all rights) of one dollar (\$1.00) each.
- **4.2** Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing shares or class of shares but subject to the Act, the Directors may issue shares in the Company, in different classes, with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, with regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Directors, subject to any resolution, determine. However, Directors may only issue such shares to Charitable Non-profit Entities.
- **4.3** Subject to the Act, any preference shares may, by resolution, be issued on the terms that they are, or at the option of the Company are liable to be, redeemed.
- 4.4 If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue) may, whether or not the Company is being wound up, be varied with -
 - (a) the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters of the issued shares of that class; or
 - (b) the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.
- **4.5** The provisions of this Constitution relating to General Meetings apply so far as they are capable of application to a meeting of holders of shares of a class except that -

- a) a quorum is constituted by one person if there is only one holder of shares of the class otherwise two persons who, between them, hold or represent by proxy one third of the issued shares of the class; and
- b) any holder of shares of the class, present in person or by proxy, may demand a poll.
- 4.6 The rights of the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking equally with the first mentioned shares.
- **4.7** Except as required by law, the Company will not recognise a person as holding a share upon any trust.
- **4.8** Subject to the law and this Constitution, the Company is not compelled to recognise (whether or not it has notice of the interest concerned) any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share except the right of ownership of the registered holder.
- 4.9 In accordance with the Act, a person whose name is entered as a member in the register of Members is entitled without payment to receive a certificate (under the seal of the Company, if the company has a seal) in respect of the share, however the Company is not bound to issue more than one certificate for shares held jointly.
- **4.10** Delivery of a certificate for a share to one of several joint holders is sufficient delivery to all such holders.
- **4.11** The Company may exercise the power to make payments by way of brokerage or commission conferred by the Act in the manner provided by the Act.
- **4.12** Payments by way of brokerage or commission may be satisfied by the payment of cash, by the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or partly by the payment of cash and partly by the allotment of fully or partly paid shares.

5. LIEN

- 5.1 The Company has a first and paramount lien on every share (unless fully paid) for all money (whether presently payable or not) called or payable at a fixed time in respect of the share.
- The Company also has a first and paramount lien on every share (unless fully paid) registered in the name of a holder for all money presently payable by them or their estate to the Company.
- **5.3** The Directors may at any time exempt a share wholly or in part from this clause.
- **5.4** Any lien of the Company on a share extends to all dividends payable in respect of the share.
- **5.5** Subject to clause 5.6, the Company may sell, in such manner as the Directors think fit, any share on which the Company has a lien.
- **5.6** A share on which the Company has a lien must not be sold unless
 - (a) a sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently payable; and
 - (b) the Company has, not less than 14 days before the date of the sale, given to the registered holder of the share or the person entitled to the share by reason of the death, cessation, wind-up, liquidation, bankruptcy or mental incapacity of the registered holder, a notice in writing setting out and demanding payment of the amount referred to in clause 5.6(a).

- **5.7** For a sale under clause 5.5, the Directors may authorise a person to transfer the share sold to the purchaser of the share.
- 5.8 The Company will register the purchaser as the holder of the shares transferred and the purchaser is not bound to see to the application of the purchase money.
- **5.9** The title of the purchaser to the shares is not affected by any irregularity or invalidity in connection with the sale.
- 5.10 The proceeds of a sale under clause 5.5 shall be applied by the Company in payment of that amount for which the lien exists as is presently payable, and the residue (if any) shall (subject to any similar lien for sums not presently payable that existed on the shares before the sale) be paid to the person entitled to the share at the date of but immediately before the sale.

6. CALLS ON SHARES

- **6.1** The Directors may make calls upon the Members for any money unpaid on the share of the Members which is not payable at fixed times, however no call shall -
 - (a) exceed one-quarter of the nominal value of the share; or
 - (b) be payable within one month of the date fixed for the payment of any previous call.
- **6.2** Each Member must, upon receiving at least 14 days' notice specifying the time and place of payment, pay to the Company the amount called on their share as specified in the notice.
- **6.3** The Directors may revoke or postpone a call.
- **6.4** A call is deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call was passed. A call may be required to be paid by instalments.
- **6.5** The joint holders of a share are jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.
- 6.6 If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment, the person from whom the sum is due must pay interest on that sum from that day to the time of actual payment at the prescribed rate, but the Directors may waive payment of all or part of that interest.
- **6.7** Any sum that, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable on allotment or at a fixed date will under this Constitution be regarded as a call made and payable on the date that the sum is payable, and, in case of non-payment, this Constitution will apply as if the sum had become payable under a call properly made and notified.
- **6.8** The Directors may, on the issue of shares, differentiate between the holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of payment.
- 6.9 The Directors may accept from a Member the whole or a part of the amount unpaid on a share although no part of that amount has been called up.
- **6.10** The Directors may authorise payment by the Company of interest upon the whole or any part of an amount so accepted, until the amount becomes payable, at such rate, not exceeding the prescribed rate, as is agreed upon between the Directors and the Member paying the sum.
- **6.11** For the purposes of clauses 6.6 and 6.10, the prescribed rate of interest is
 - a) the rate fixed by the Directors but not exceeding 10% per annum; or
 - b) if no rate is fixed by the Directors 10% per annum.

7. FORFEITURE OF SHARES

- 7.1 If a Member fails to pay a call or instalment of a call on the day appointed for payment of the call or instalment, the Directors may, at any time while any part of the call or instalment remains unpaid, serve a notice on them requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest that has accrued.
- 7.2 The notice must name a further day (not earlier than the expiration of 14 days from the date of service of the notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that, in the event of non-payment by that date, the shares for which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.
- **7.3** If the requirements of a notice served under clause 7.1 are not complied with, any share for which the notice has been given may at any time until the payment required by the notice has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Directors to that effect.
- 7.4 Such a forfeiture will include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited shares and not actually paid before the forfeiture.
- **7.5** A forfeited share may be sold or disposed of on the terms and in the manner the Directors think fit, and, at any time before a sale or disposition, the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors think fit.
- 7.6 A person whose shares have been forfeited ceases to be a Member in respect of the forfeited shares, but remains liable to pay to the Company all money that, at the date of forfeiture, was payable by them to the Company in respect of the shares (including interest at the rate of 10% per annum from the date of forfeiture on the money unpaid if the Directors enforce payment of the interest), but this liability ceases if and when the Company receives payment in full of all the money (including interest) payable in respect of the shares.
- 7.7 A statement in writing declaring that the person making the statement is a Director or a Secretary of the Company, and that a share in the Company has been forfeited on a date stated in the statement, is evidence of the facts in the statement as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share.
- **7.8** The Company may receive the consideration (if any) given for a forfeited share on any sale or disposition of the share and may execute a transfer of the share in favour of the person to whom the share is sold or disposed of.
- **7.9** Upon the execution of the transfer, the transferee will be registered as a holder of the share and is not bound to see to the application of any money paid as consideration.
- **7.10** The title of the transferee to the share is not affected by any irregularity or invalidity in connection with the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share.
- **7.11** The provisions of this Constitution as to forfeiture apply in the case of non-payment of any sum that, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of premium, as if that sum had been payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

8. TRANSFER OF SHARES

- **8.1** Subject to this Constitution, a Member may only transfer all or any of their shares to a Charitable Non-profit Entity. The transfer must be made by an instrument of transfer which is -
 - (a) in writing;

- (b) in the usual form or the form approved by the Directors; and
- (c) executed by or on behalf of both the transferor and the transferee.
- **8.2** A transferor of shares remains the holder of the shares until the transfer is registered and the name of the transferee is entered in the register of Members in respect of the shares.
- **8.3** Subject to this Constitution the Company shall register the transferee as shareholder upon receipt at the registered office of the Company of
 - a) the instrument of transfer under clause 8.1;
 - b) any reasonable fee set by the Directors;
 - c) any certificate for the shares; and
 - d) any other information as the Directors properly require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer.
- **8.4** The Directors may in their absolute discretion refuse to register a transfer of shares without giving any reason.
- 8.5 Shares must not be transferred to a person who is not a Member if
 - a) a Member; or
 - a person selected by the Directors as being desirable in the interests of the Company to be a Member ("selected person"),

is willing to purchase those shares.

- 8.6 If the transferor wishes to transfer all or any of their shares
 - a) the transferor shall give notice in writing to the Company that they wish to transfer all or any of the shares (called "the transfer notice");
 - b) the transfer notice shall state the price nominated by the transferor for the shares to be transferred and, if it includes several shares, the transfer notice will operate as a separate notice for each;
 - c) the transfer notice will constitute the Company as agent for the sale;
 - d) the transfer notice will not be revocable except with the consent of the Directors.
- **8.7** All shares must be offered to Members in proportion to the shares held by them unless the Directors in their absolute discretion give any Member, class of Members or selected person a preferential right to purchase the shares.
- **8.8** If within one month after the Company is served with the transfer notice a Member or selected person gives notice to the transferor that they are willing to purchase the shares ("the Transferee") the transferor is bound upon payment of the price to transfer the shares to the Transferee.
- **8.9** If the transferor fails to transfer the shares under clause 8.8
 - a) the Company will after receiving the purchase money enter the name of the Transferee in the register as the holder of the shares;

- b) the Company will hold the purchase money in trust for the transferor;
- a receipt issued by the Company for the purchase money will be a good discharge to the Transferee; and
- d) after the name of the Transferee has been entered in the register the validity of the transfer shall not be questioned by any person.
- 8.10 If the Company shall not within one month after being served with the transfer notice find a Member or selected person who is willing to purchase the shares, the transferor may within three calendar months, but subject to clause 8.4, sell and transfer the shares (or those not sold) to any person at a price not less than the price placed on the shares in the transfer notice.
- **8.11** The registration of transfers may be suspended at such times and for such periods as the Directors from time to time determine not exceeding in the whole 30 days in any year.
- **8.12** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU then there shall be no issue of shares, change of share rights or transfer of shares without the prior written approval of JCU.

9. TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

- **9.1** Where a Member dies who was a sole holder of a share, the legal personal representative shall be the only person recognised by the Company as being entitled to the share.
- **9.2** Where a Member dies who was a joint holder of a share, the surviving joint holder shall be the only person recognised by the Company as being entitled to the share, however the estate of the deceased joint holder shall not be released from any liability in respect of the share.
- **9.3** Subject to the *Bankruptcy Act 1966*, a person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death, bankruptcy or mental incapacity of a Member has the right to have themself or some other person nominated by them registered as the transferee of the share subject to -
 - (a) evidence of the death, bankruptcy or mental incapacity of the Member;
 - (b) evidence of that person's right to become holder of the interest in place of the Member;
 - (c) any other information which is reasonably required by the Directors;
 - (d) if the person becoming entitled elects to be registered themself, a notice in writing signed by them stating that they so elect;
 - (e) if they elect to have another person registered, a transfer of the share to that other person.
- **9.4** Upon receiving all information required under clause 9.3 the Company shall register the nominated person or Transferee as the holder of the share.
- **9.5** All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of this Constitution relating to the right to transfer, and the registration or transfer of, shares are applicable to any such notice or transfer as if the death or bankruptcy or mental incapacity of the Member had not occurred and the notice or transfer were a transfer signed by that Member.
- 9.6 Where a Member dies, becomes bankrupt or mentally incapacitated their personal representative or the trustee of their estate (as the case may be) is, upon the production of such information as is properly required by the Directors, entitled to the same dividends and other advantages, and to the same rights, and subject to the same obligations and liabilities as the registered holder would have been entitled or subject to if they had not died or become bankrupt or mentally incapacitated.

9.7 Where two or more persons are jointly entitled to any share in consequence of the death of the registered holder, they shall, for the purpose of this Constitution, be deemed to be joint holders of the share.

10. ALTERATION OF CAPITAL

- 10.1 The Company may by resolution -
 - (a) increase its share capital by the creation of new shares of such amount as is specified in the resolution;
 - (b) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than its existing shares;
 - (c) subdivide all or any of its shares into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by this Constitution but so that in the subdivision the proportion between the amount paid and the amount (if any) unpaid on each such share of a smaller amount is the same as it was in the case of the share from which the share of a smaller amount is derived; and
 - (d) cancel shares that, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person or have been forfeited and reduce its share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.
- 10.2 Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in General Meeting, all unissued shares shall, before issue, be offered to such persons as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as nearly as the circumstances allow, to the number of shares of that class that they already hold.
- **10.3** The offer shall be made by notice specifying the number of shares offered and limiting a time within which the offer, if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined.
- **10.4** After the expiration of that time or on being notified by the person to whom the offer is made that they decline to accept the shares offered, the Directors may issue those shares in such manner as they think most beneficial to the Company.
- 10.5 Where, by reason of the proportion that shares proposed to be issued bear to shares already held, some of the first-mentioned shares cannot be offered in accordance with this clause, the Directors may issue the shares that cannot be so offered in such manner as they think most beneficial to the Company.
- **10.6** Subject to the Act, the Company may, by special resolution, reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve fund or any share premium account.

11. PURCHASE OR SALE OF ASSETS OR BUSINESS, AND BORROWING

- 11.1 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company must not:
 - (a) purchase or contract to purchase the whole or substantially the whole of the assets or undertaking of another business; or
 - (b) sell or transfer or contract to sell or transfer-
 - (i) substantially the whole of the assets of the Company, or
 - (ii) the business or undertaking of the Company,

without obtaining the prior approval of Council.

11.2 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company must not, except in regard to financial leases, borrow money and/or grant security over the assets or undertakings of the Company without the approval of the Deputy Vice Chancellor of JCU.

12. GENERAL MEETINGS

- **12.1** A Director may, at any time, convene a General Meeting.
- 12.2 Notice of every General Meeting must be given in the manner authorised by clause 23.1 to-
 - (a) every Member;
 - (b) in consequence of the death, cessation, wind-up, liquidation, bankruptcy or mental incapacity of a Member, to the person recognised by the Company under clause 9 as being entitled to the share; and
 - (c) the auditor for the time being of the Company.
- 12.3 No other person is entitled to receive notices of General Meeting.
- 12.4 A notice of a General Meeting shall
 - a) provide at least ten (10) business days notice of the meeting;
 - b) specify the place, the day and commencement time of the meeting; and
 - except as provided by clause 12.5 state the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- **12.5** It is necessary for a notice of an annual general meeting to state that the business to be transacted at the meeting includes -
 - (d) the declaring of a dividend;
 - (e) the consideration of accounts;
 - (f) the reports of the Directors and auditors; and
 - (g) the appointment of the auditors.

13. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- **13.1** No business will be transacted at a General Meeting unless a quorum of Members is present when the meeting proceeds to business.
- 13.2 For the purposes of this Constitution, a quorum is -
 - (a) in the case of a single member Company, that Member;
 - (b) in every other case, two (2) Members.
- **13.3** For the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present, a person attending as a proxy or as representing a body corporate that is a Member, will be considered to be a Member.
- 13.4 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting
 - a) where the meeting was convened upon the requisition of Members the meeting will be

dissolved; or

- b) in any other case the meeting will be adjourned to the day, time and place that the Directors determine or, if no determination is made, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place as specified in the original notice of meeting.
- **13.5** If at any adjourned meeting referred to in clause 13.4(b) a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting the meeting must be dissolved.
- **13.6** If the Vice-Chancellor has appointed a chair of the Board, that person shall preside as chair at every General Meeting.
- 13.7 Where a General Meeting is held and
 - a) a chair has not been nominated as provided by clause 13.6; or
 - b) a chair has been so nominated but
 - i) the chair is not present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting; or
 - ii) the chair is unwilling to act,

the Members present must elect one of them to be chair of the meeting.

- **13.8** The chair must, if so directed by the meeting, adjourn the meeting to another time and place but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the original meeting.
- **13.9** It is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting unless the meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more.
- **13.10** At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded
 - a) by the chair;
 - b) by at least three Members present in person or by proxy;
 - by Members present in person or by proxy and representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote at the meeting; or
 - d) by Members holding shares in the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.
- **13.11** Unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chair that a resolution has on a show of hands been
 - a) carried unanimously; or
 - b) carried by a particular majority; or
 - c) lost,

is conclusive evidence of the result without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution where an entry of the result is made in the minutes of the proceedings of the Company.

- **13.12** A demand for a poll may be withdrawn.
- **13.13** If a poll is demanded, it shall be taken in the manner and (subject to clause 13.15) either immediately or after an interval of adjournment, as the chair directs, and the result of the poll shall be a resolution of the meeting in which the poll is demanded.
- **13.14** A poll demanded on the election of a chair or on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately.
- **13.15** If there is an equality of votes, on a show of hands or on a poll, the chair of that meeting, in addition to their deliberative vote (if any), has a casting vote.
- 13.16 Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of shares
 - a) each Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or attorney; and
 - b) on a show of hands, every person present who is a Member or a representative of a Member has one vote; and
 - on a poll every person present in person or by proxy or attorney has one vote for each share they hold.
- **13.17** In the case of joint holders the vote of the senior joint holder who votes, whether in person or by proxy or by attorney, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. Seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of Members.
- **13.18** If a Member is of unsound mind or their estate is to be dealt with in any way under mental health law, their trustee or any person who properly has the management of their estate may exercise the rights of the Member in relation to a General Meeting as if they were the Member.
- **13.19** A Member is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all calls and other sums presently payable by them in respect of their shares have been paid.
- **13.20** An objection may be raised to the qualification of a voter only at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given.
- 13.21 Any objection shall be referred to the chair of the meeting, whose decision is final.
- **13.22** A vote not disallowed under such an objection is valid.
- **13.23** An instrument appointing a proxy must be in writing by the appointer or their authorised attorney or, if the appointer is a body corporate, under seal or by an authorised officer or attorney.
- **13.24** An instrument appointing a proxy may specify the manner in which the proxy is to vote for a particular resolution and, where so specified, the proxy must vote in that manner.
- **13.25** An instrument appointing a proxy is deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.
- 13.26 An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in a form similar to the following -

<Name of Company>

I/we, of

being a member of the above Company,

hereby appoint of or, in their absence, of

as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the *annual general *general meeting of the Company to be held on the day of 20 .. and at any adjournment of that meeting.

#This form is to be used *in favour of/*against the resolution.

Signed this day of 20 ...

*Strike out whichever is not desired. #To be inserted if desired.

- **13.27** Unless otherwise determined by the meeting, an instrument appointing a proxy shall not be treated as valid unless the instrument, and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which the instrument is signed, or certified copies, are deposited at the registered office of the Company or at such other place in Australia as is specified in the notice convening the meeting
 - a) not less than 48 hours before the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote; or
 - b) in the case of a poll, not less than twenty-four hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll.
- **13.28** A vote given in accordance with an instrument of proxy or of a power of attorney is valid notwithstanding
 - a) the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the principal;
 - b) the revocation of the instrument (or of the authority under which the instrument was executed) or of the power; or
 - c) the transfer of the share in respect of which the instrument or power is given,

if no intimation in writing of the death, unsoundness of mind, revocation or transfer has been received by the Company at the registered office before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the instrument is used or the power is exercised.

14. APPOINTMENT, REMOVAL AND REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

- **14.1** Upon registration of the Company the first Directors of the Company shall be the persons specified in the application to register the Company who have consented to act as Directors, and who hold a Certificate of Approval.
- **14.2** The number of the Directors shall not be less than two or more than ten.
- **14.3** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then no person shall be a Director of the Company unless that person holds a Certificate of Approval.
- **14.4** A Certificate of Approval may be in such form as the Vice-Chancellor determines and may specify a point in time at which it shall expire.
- **14.5** A Certificate of Approval may be withdrawn at any time.
- **14.6** There shall be no share qualification for a Director.
- 14.7 The Directors shall endeavour to ensure that persons who serve as Directors have a cross-section of

gender and expertise relating to Core Director Functions appropriate for the Company.

- **14.8** The Directors shall endeavour to ensure where necessary that some of the persons who serve as Directors:
 - (a) have particular expertise; and/or
 - (b) are able to effectively represent particular sectors; relating to the specific objects of the Company.
- **14.9** The Directors shall endeavour to ensure that some of the persons who serve as Directors are neither members of staff, officers or students of JCU.
- **14.10** In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant under the Act, the office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director -
 - (a) no longer holds a Certificate of Approval;
 - (b) is removed by ordinary resolution of the Company in general meeting;
 - (c) resigns their office by notice in writing to the Company;
 - (d) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
 - (e) is absent without the consent of the Directors from meetings of the Directors for six consecutive months;
 - without the consent of the Company in general meeting holds any other office of profit under the Company except that of Senior Manager or Secretary; or
 - (g) is directly or indirectly interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Company and fails to declare the nature of their interest as required by the Act.
- **14.11** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Vice-Chancellor may appoint one of the Directors to act as chair of the Board and may determine the period for which the chair is to hold office, otherwise the Directors shall do so.
- **14.12** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Directors have the power to appoint any person, who holds a Certificate of Approval to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors, and must consult with the Vice-Chancellor in relation to all such appointments, but the total number shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in this Constitution.
- **14.13** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of their period of office and appoint another person who holds a Certificate of Approval in their place.
- **14.14** The remuneration of the Directors shall be determined by the Company in consultation with JCU. Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then, no fees shall be paid to any Director by way of Directors' fees without prior written approval by JCU.
- **14.15** That remuneration shall be deemed to accrue from day to day.
- **14.16** The Directors may be paid all travelling and other expenses properly incurred by them in carrying on the business of the Company including attending meetings of the Directors or any committee of the Directors and General Meetings.
- 14.17 A Director may be appointed as Secretary of the Company at a salary and on terms determined by

the Directors.

- **14.18** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Senior Manager must not be a Director.
- **14.19** The office of any Director who held office prior to the commencement of this Constitution shall not be affected merely by the commencement of this Constitution.

15. POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS

- **15.1** Subject to the Act and to this Constitution, the business of the Company shall be managed by the directors.
- **15.2** The Directors may authorise the payment by the Company of all expenses incurred in promoting and forming the Company.
- **15.3** Subject always to the provisions of clauses 11.1 and 11.2 of this Constitution, the Directors may exercise all powers of the Company that are not by the Act or by this Constitution required to be exercised by the Company in General Meeting.
- 15.4 The Directors may, by power of attorney, appoint a person or persons provided such person holds a Certificate of Approval to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company with the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or exercisable by the Directors, for the period and subject to the conditions they think fit.
- **15.5** Any power of attorney may contain provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing with the attorney.
- **15.6** All negotiable instruments and receipts for money paid to the Company shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or executed -
 - (a) if the Company has only one (1) Director, that Director;
 - (b) if the Company has two (2) or more Directors, by any two (2) Directors or by one (1) Director and the Secretary; or
 - (c) in any manner the Directors determine.

16. PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

- **16.1** The Directors may meet together for the dispatch of business and adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit.
- **16.2** A Director may, and a Secretary will on the requisition of a Director, convene a meeting of the Directors.
- 16.3 A quorum at a meeting of Directors will be -
 - (a) if the Company has only one (1) Director, that Director; or
 - (b) if the Company has two (2) or more Directors, one half of the Directors or the number previously determined by the Directors.
- **16.4** If there is a vacancy in the office of a Director, the remaining Directors may act but, if there is not a sufficient number for a quorum at a meeting of Directors, they may act only for the purpose of
 - a) increasing the number of Directors to that sufficient for a quorum; or

b) convening a General Meeting.

This clause takes effect subject to clause 14.3.

- **16.5** The chair of the Board nominated under clause 14.11 shall chair the meetings of Directors.
- 16.6 Where a meeting of Directors is held and
 - a) a chair of the Board has not been nominated under clause 14.11; or
 - b) the chair of the Board is not present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act,

the Directors present must elect one of them to chair the meeting.

- 16.7 In this Constitution, the contemporaneous linking together by telephone, radio, closed circuit television or other electronic means of audio or audio-visual communication of a quorum of Directors together with the secretary, whether or not any of them is out of the Commonwealth of Australia, will be deemed to constitute a meeting of the Directors and all the provisions in this Constitution as to meetings of the Directors will apply to the meetings if the following conditions are met -
 - a) all the Directors entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Directors (including any alternate Director) shall be given notice of a meeting to be held by telephone or other means of communication and be entitled to be linked by telephone or other means for the purposes of such meeting;
 - each of the Directors taking part in the meeting by telephone or other means of communication and the secretary must be able to hear each of the other Directors taking part as from the commencement of the meeting;
 - c) at the commencement of the meeting each Director must acknowledge their presence to all the other Directors taking part.
- **16.8** A Director taking part in a meeting under clause 16.7 shall not leave the meeting, and shall be conclusively presumed to have been present and part of the quorum at all times during the meeting, unless they have before or during the meeting obtained the consent of the chair of the meeting to leave the meeting.
- **16.9** The minutes of any meeting under clause 16.7 shall be sufficient evidence of the proceedings and of the observance of all necessary formalities.
- **16.10** Subject to this Constitution, questions arising at a meeting of Directors shall be decided by a majority of votes of Directors present and voting and any such decision shall for all purposes be deemed a decision of the Directors.
- **16.11** If there is an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting, in addition to their deliberative vote (if any) has a casting vote.
- **16.12** If all Directors who are entitled to vote and are available to sign a document stating they are in favour of a resolution of the Directors as set out in the document, that resolution shall be considered to have been passed at a meeting of the Directors held on the day and at the time the document was last signed by a Director.
- **16.13** For the purposes of clause 16.12, a Director is not available if:
 - (a) they have given notice to the Directors or to the Secretary that they are not available for a

period of time; or

- (b) the chair of the Board is aware of the condition or location of the Director and has certified that for the purpose of this clause the Director is not available.
- **16.14** For the purposes of clause 16.12, two or more separate documents containing statements in identical terms which are signed by one or more Directors shall together be considered to constitute one document containing a statement in those terms signed by those Directors on the respective days on which they signed the separate documents.
- **16.15** A reference in clause 16.12 to the Directors does not include a Director who, at a meeting of Directors, would not have the right to vote on the resolution.
- **16.16** A reference in clause 16.12 to a signed document shall include a document which is electronically scanned and emailed and a document which is transmitted by facsimile, in either case received by the Company and apparently signed by a Director.
- **16.17** All acts done by a meeting of the Directors or of a committee of Directors or by any person acting as a Director are valid even if it is afterwards discovered that
 - a) there was a defect in the appointment of a person to be or act as a Director, or as a member of the committee; or
 - b) a person was disqualified.

17. DIRECTOR'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- **17.1** If a Director has an interest, whether as vendor, purchaser or otherwise in any contract or arrangement to be entered into by or for the Company -
 - (a) the nature of their interest must be disclosed by them at a meeting of the Directors and the Secretary shall record the declaration in the minutes of the meeting;
 - (b) the declaration shall be made at the meeting of the Directors at which the contract or arrangement is being considered if their interest then exists or otherwise at the first meeting of the Directors after the acquisition of their interest;
 - (c) a general notice that a Director is a member of a specified company and is to be regarded as interested in any contract or arrangement which may after the date of the notice be made with that company shall be deemed to be a sufficient declaration.
- 17.2 Where a Director makes a disclosure or declaration under clause 17.1, the Director may with the prior consent of the other Directors (but not otherwise and, where consent is given, only to the extent of that consent) in relation to the matter in respect of which the Director has a conflict of interest
 - a) receive information about the matter;
 - b) be present at the meeting during the discussion of that matter;
 - c) participate in the discussion of that matter; and
 - d) vote in relation to that matter.
- **17.3** A Director is not disqualified from participation in meetings just because the Director is an employee or officer or student of JCU.

- **17.4** As provided for in section 187 of the Act, in the circumstances where the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of JCU, a Director is taken to act in good faith in the best interests of the Company if:
 - (a) the Director acts in good faith in the best interests of JCU; and
 - (b) the Company is not insolvent at the time the Director acts and does not become insolvent because of the Director's act;

and to that intent, a Director may act in the best interests of JCU.

18. COMMITTEE OF DIRECTORS

- **18.1** The Directors may delegate any of their powers to a committee of two or more Directors.
- **18.2** A committee to which powers are delegated must exercise those powers under the directions of the Directors and the powers will be considered to have been exercised by the Directors.
- **18.3** The members of such a committee may elect one of them as chair of their meetings.
- 18.4 Where such a meeting of the committee is held and -
 - (a) a chair has not been elected under clause 18.3; or
 - (b) the chair is not present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act;

the members of the committee present may elect one of them to be chair of the meeting.

- **18.5** A committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
- **18.6** Questions arising at a meeting of a committee shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members of the committee present and voting.
- **18.7** In the case of an equality of votes, the chair, in addition to their deliberative vote (if any), has a casting vote.

19. SECRETARY

- **19.1** Without limiting clause 14.17, the Directors must appoint a Secretary for the Company.
- **19.2** A Secretary holds office on the terms and conditions, including as to any remuneration, as the Directors determine.

20. SEAL

- **20.1** Nothing in this clause, or elsewhere in this Constitution, obliges the Company to have a Seal. The following clauses only apply if, and for as long as, the Company chooses to have a Seal.
- **20.2** The Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal.
- 20.3 The Seal must be used only by the authority of the Directors, and every document to which the Seal is affixed must be signed by a Director and countersigned by another Director, a Secretary or other person appointed by the Directors to countersign the document.

21. INSPECTION OF RECORDS AND PROVISION OF INFORMATION

21.1 Subject to clauses 21.2 to 21.5, the Directors will determine whether and under what conditions the accounting records and other documents of the Company will be open for inspection by Members.

- **21.2** A Member other than a Director does not have the right to inspect any accounting records or other documents of the Company except as provided by law or authorised by the Directors or by the Company in General Meeting or by virtue of clauses 21.3 to 21.5.
- **21.3** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then JCU has the right at any time, upon request, to:
 - (a) inspect any accounting records or other documents of the Company; and
 - (b) obtain any information relating to the affairs of the Company.

In such cases, the Company shall provide to JCU, within a reasonable period, all such information and records as have been requested.

- **21.4** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company must provide reports to JCU in relation to its affairs as requested by JCU from time to time.
- **21.5** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company must also provide to JCU on a periodic basis:
 - (a) minutes of all Board meetings,
 - (b) periodic management reports and end of year audited accounts, and
 - (c) other key documents, including annual business plans on a three-year rolling basis, relating to the affairs of the Company.

22. CONFIDENTIALITY

22.1 Subject to the provisions of clauses 17.4 and 21.1 to 21.5, Directors must maintain confidentiality in relation to all affairs of the Company.

23. NOTICES

- 23.1 A notice may be given by the Company to a Member by
 - a) serving it on the Member personally; or
 - b) leaving it at the Member's last disclosed address for notices; or
 - c) sending it by facsimile transmission to the member's last disclosed facsimile address; or
 - d) sending it by email; or
 - e) sending it by post
 - i) at their address shown in the register of Members; or
 - ii) the address supplied by the Member to the Company for the giving of notices.
- 23.2 A notice by facsimile transmission will be deemed to have been given when the sender's facsimile machine produces a report that the facsimile was sent in full to the Member. That report is conclusive evidence that the Member received the facsimile in full at the time indicated on the report.
- **23.3** A notice sent by post must be properly addressed and prepaid. Service of notices sent by post will be deemed to be made -

- a) in the case of a notice of a meeting, on the day after the date of its posting; and
- b) in any other case, at the time the letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.
- **23.4** A notice may be given by the Company to the joint holders of a share by giving the notice to the joint holder of that share first named in the register of Members.
- **23.5** A notice may be given by the Company to a person entitled to a share as a result of the death, cessation, wind-up, liquidation, bankruptcy or mental incapacity of a Member by
 - a) serving it on the person personally (where applicable); or
 - b) sending it to the person by post addressed to the person by name, or as representative of the Member, at the address supplied by the person; or
 - if an address has not been supplied, by sending it to the address of the Member in the register of Members.

24. INDEMNITY

- **24.1** Every officer of the Company will be indemnified out of the property of the Company against liability, including legal costs and expenses incurred by them in their capacity as officer when defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal
 - a) in which judgement is given in their favour; or
 - b) in which they are acquitted; or
 - c) in connection with an application relating to the proceedings in which relief under the Act is granted to them by the Court.

25. DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

- **25.1** The Company shall not distribute to its shareholders (in that capacity) by way of dividend or otherwise any of the assets or income of the Company except in the following circumstances:
 - (a) where the shareholders are Charitable Non-profit Entities that have purposes similar to the objects of this Company; or
 - (b) as bonafide compensation for services rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the Company.
- 25.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the assets and income of the Company shall be applied solely for the furtherance of the objects and no portion shall be distributed directly or indirectly to the Members, except as permitted by clauses 25.1(a) and 25.1(b).

26. WINDING UP

- **26.1** In the event of the organisation being dissolved, the amount that remains after such dissolution and the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities shall be dealt with in the following manner:
 - (a) some or all of the amount can be distributed to shareholders, but only if the shareholders are Charitable Non-profit Entities that have similar purposes to the objects of this Company;
 - (b) if any amount is not distributed to shareholders, it must be transferred to another organisation with similar purposes which is not carried on for the profit or gain of its individual Members.

27. GOVERNANCE AND POLICY

- **27.1** Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the Company must adopt such policies as are necessary for the operations of the Company and as may be nominated by JCU following consultation with the Board, including those set out below:
 - (a) risk management, and
 - (b) health safety and environment.
- **27.2 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU,** then the Board must adopt, and not less than once each year evaluate, a written statement of its own governance principles.
- **27.3** The Vice-Chancellor may give written notice to the Board of recommendations or requirements for the good governance of the Company. In such cases Directors shall, as far as is practicable, act in accordance with such recommendations or requirements.

28. FINANCIAL YEAR

28.1 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the financial year for the Company shall be the financial year for JCU.

29. CHANGE TO CONSTITUTION

29.1 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then this constitution or any amendments shall not have effect until approved by Council.

30. AUDITOR

30.1 Where the Company is a Controlled Entity of JCU, then the accounts of the Company shall be audited as advised by JCU in accordance with the laws of Queensland. Until notified otherwise by JCU, the accounts shall be audited by the Queensland Audit Office.